# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JAMES LEE BROWN,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S181963

SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG 0 6 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Third Appellate District, Case No. C056510 Lassen County Superior Court Case No. C056510 The Honorable Stephen Douglas Bradbury, Judge

## RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Should the recently enacted amendments to Penal Code<sup>1</sup> section 4019 be applied prospectively to custody time served after the amendment's effective date or retroactively to all non-final judgments?

#### INTRODUCTION

In October 2009, the Legislature passed Senate Bill 18 ("SB 18"). Among other things, SB 18 revised the accrual rate for conduct<sup>2</sup> credits pursuant to Penal Code section 4019. Under the old version of section 4019, defendants earned two days of conduct credit for every four actual days served in local custody. Under the new provision, certain defendants are eligible to earn two days of conduct credit for every two days of actual custody. (§ 4019, subd. (f).) SB 18's effective date was January 25, 2010.<sup>3</sup>

Appellant Brown was convicted and sentenced in 2007, roughly two and a half years before SB 18 was enacted. Nevertheless, because his appeal is pending, appellant's convictions are not yet final. On appeal below, he argued that the new version of section 4019 should apply

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All future statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Conduct credit' collectively refers to work time credit pursuant to section 4019, subdivision (b), and to good behavior credit pursuant to section 4019, subdivision (c). [Citation.]" (*People v. Dieck* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 934, 939, fn.3.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This is by virtue of the California Constitution, article 4, section 8(c)(1), which states in relevant part, "a statute enacted at a special session shall go into effect on the 91st day after adjournment of the special session at which the bill was passed." And, the California Senate Journal for the Third Extraordinary Session indicates that the Third Extraordinary Session adjourned on October 25, 2009. (Cal. Senate Journal, 2009-10 Third Extraordinary Session, Nov. 30 2009, p. 273; http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/senate-journalhtml/sj\_200911.html, last accessed May 3, 2010.)

retroactively to all cases not yet final on appeal, and accordingly he is entitled to the benefit of the more favorable accrual rate. The Third District Court of Appeal agreed and held the statutory amendment should be applied retroactively.

The Court of Appeal's ruling fails to comport with the Legislature's intent in amending section 4019. Retroactive application would allow for the recalculation of all local custody conduct credits included in sentences not yet final on January 25, 2010, regardless of when these credits accrued. Inmates with non-final judgments as of the effective date of the statute would receive a windfall of conduct credits.

Conversely, prospective application would grant inmates the benefit of the new calculation for any time served on or after the statute's effective date. Prospective application is consistent with the statute's purpose which is to encourage good behavior and work participation in custody facilities as a means of maintaining security and discipline within the custodial system. It is logically and practically impossible to influence behavior after it has occurred. For these reasons, and because statutes are presumed to operate prospectively, respondent urges this court to overrule the opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal below and find that the amendment to section 4019 is to be applied prospectively only.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August 2006, appellant was involved in the sale of methamphetamine to an undercover police officer.<sup>4</sup> (1 RT 25-113.) On May 24, 2007, a Lassen County jury found appellant guilty of one count of selling or furnishing methamphetamine (Health & Saf. Code, § 11379,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Because the underlying facts of this offense are irrelevant to the issue presently before this Court, Respondent has omitted a "Statement of the Facts" in its entirety.

subd. (a)). (1 CT 41.) On July 24, 2007, the trial court denied probation and sentenced appellant to a total of three years in state prison, the middle term. (1 CT 78-79.) Appellant was awarded 62 days of actual custody time and 30 days of conduct credit, pursuant to the old version of section 4019. (1 RT 239.) On August 6, 2007, appellant filed a notice of appeal. (1 CT 82.)

On direct appeal, appellant raised several issues unrelated to the section 4019 issue. On January 13, 2010, the Third District affirmed the judgment in an unpublished opinion.

But, thereafter, on January 29, 2010, appellant filed a petition for rehearing, arguing he is entitled to the benefit of the amendment to section 4019 that went into effect on January 25, 2010, and which provided for enhanced presentence conduct credits. The Third District granted the petition and vacated the January 13, 2010, decision. On March 16, 2010, the Third District issued the published opinion in this case, finding that the amendment to Penal Code section 4019 was intended to be retroactive. (Slip opn. at p. 35.) The court reasoned that the amendment to section 4019 constituted an "amendatory statute lessening punishment" and thus, it should be applied retroactively to all non-final judgments pursuant to this Court's opinion in *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740, 744 (*Estrada*). (Slip opn. at p. 32.) Accordingly, the court awarded appellant an additional 32 days of conduct credit. (Slip opn. at p. 35.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. BECAUSE THIS CASE IS NOT GOVERNED BY ESTRADA, 5 AND NOTHING IN THE LEGISLATION OR ITS HISTORY COMPELS RETROACTIVE APPLICATION, THE PRESUMPTION OF PROSPECTIVE APPLICATION HAS NOT BEEN REBUTTED AND THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN DETERMINING THE STATUTE MUST BE APPLIED RETROACTIVELY

Statutes are presumed to operate prospectively. Contrary to the Third District Court of Appeal's decision, the amendment to section 4019 does not constitute "an amendatory statute lessening punishment," and is therefore not governed by this Court's decision in *Estrada*. In addition, nothing in the legislative history or the language of the statute itself demonstrates a clear and compelling indication that the Legislature intended this amendment to apply retroactively. The Court of Appeal's rule of retroactivity is not only inconsistent with other statutory provisions that were amended by SB 18, but, in certain instances, it would reward inmates for trifling with court proceedings. Accordingly, the general presumption that statutes apply prospectively has not been rebutted. Appellant's conduct credits were correctly calculated pursuant to the old formula and he is not entitled to recalculation because the amendment to section 4019 should not be applied retroactively. Finally, this construction comports with principles of equal protection.

A. The Amendment to Section 4019 Is Not an "Amendatory Statute Lessening Punishment," and Thus, This Case Is Not Governed by *Estrada* 

At the outset, an analysis of whether or not a statute or an amendment to a statute is to apply retroactively or prospectively begins with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In re Estrada, supra, 63 Cal.2d 740.

Penal Code section 3. Section 3 states that no part of the Penal Code is "retroactive, unless expressly so declared." When there is nothing to indicate a contrary legislative intent, statutes are presumed to be prospective, not retroactive. "[S]ection 3 reflects the common understanding that legislative provisions are presumed to operate prospectively, and that they should be so interpreted 'unless express language or clear and unavoidable implication negatives the presumption.' [Citation.]" (Evangelatos v. Superior Court (1988) 44 Cal.3d 1188, 1208.) "[I]n the absence of an express retroactivity provision, a statute will not be applied retroactively unless it is very clear from extrinsic sources that the Legislature or the voters must have intended a retroactive application." (Id. at p. 1209.)

Estrada created an exception to the general rule of prospective application. There, this Court determined that such a contrary legislative intent was inherent in amendments to Penal Code sections 3044 and 4530, which reduced the punishment for the crime of escape without force. This Court held, "[a] legislative mitigation of the penalty for a particular crime represents a legislative judgment that the lesser penalty or the different treatment is sufficient to meet the legitimate ends of the criminal law." (In re Estrada, supra, 63 Cal.2d at p. 744-745.) Estrada established that an amendatory statute lessening punishment is presumed to apply in all cases not yet reduced to final judgment as of the amendatory statute's effective date.

With SB 18, there is no explicit indication of the legislative intent. The court below determined that the amendment to section 4019 should be applied retroactively because it constituted an "amendatory statute lessening punishment," and thus *Estrada* applied. (Slip opn. at p. 32.) The lower court discerned a legislative intent of complete retroactive application because it believed the amendment was designed to lessen punishment:

"it appears to us that the Legislature plainly did intend with this legislation to ease budgetary concerns by reducing the prison population. To accomplish this, the Legislature reduced the total term of imprisonment by increasing conduct credits which necessarily reduces the punishment for certain crimes." (Slip opn. at p. 32.)

However, contrary to the court's ruling, a favorable change in the accrual rate of conduct credit does not constitute an "amendatory statute lessening punishment," and accordingly, *Estrada* is inapplicable.

Prior to the passage of SB 18, three lower courts had considered the issue of whether a change in the rate of accrual of credits is a "statute lessening punishment." In *People v. Hunter* (1977) 68 Cal.App.3d 389 (*Hunter*), the court applied *Estrada* in holding that an amendment to section 2900.5 should apply retroactively. (*Id.* at p. 393.) Section 2900.5, subdivision (a), allows for "back time" credit against a sentence resulting from a misdemeanor or felony conviction, or what is known as "actual" credit. (*People v. Hunter, supra*, 68 Cal.App.3d at p. 393.) In *Hunter*, the statute was amended to include "back time" for periods of imprisonment imposed as a condition of a grant of probation. *Hunter* is distinguishable from the instant case because it dealt with actual credits, and not conduct credits. The distinction is significant because the legislative intent behind awarding actual credits and conduct credits is entirely different.

As the *Hunter* court held, awarding credit for actual custody days served is a reduction in punishment, and the *Estrada* exception to the presumption of prospective application applies. On the other hand, the legislative intent in awarding (or increasing, as here) credit for good conduct is to encourage good behavior; thus credits are awarded pursuant to section 4019, "unless it appears by the record that the prisoner has refused to satisfactorily perform labor" or "has not satisfactorily complied with the reasonable rules and regulations . . . ." (§ 4019, subds. (b)(1) and (c)(1).)

A number of courts, including this one, have recognized this legislative intent: "The[] provisions of section 4019 [which award credit] make clear that conduct credits are designed to ensure the smooth running of a custodial facility by encouraging prisoners to do required work and to obey the rules and regulations of the facility." (People v. Silva (2003) 114 Cal. App. 4th 122, 128; see also *People v. Guzman* (1995) 40 Cal. App. 4th 691, 695 ["The purpose of . . . section 4019 is to encourage good behavior by incarcerated defendants prior to sentencing. [Citations.]"]; and People v. Moore (1991) 226 Cal. App. 3d 783, 787 ["Conduct credit is awarded to prisoners in penal institutions to encourage good behavior. [Citation,]"]; People v. Brown (2004) 33 Cal.4th 382, 405 ["section 4019, focuses primarily on encouraging minimal cooperation and good behavior by persons temporarily detained in local custody"]; People v. Sage (1980) 26 Cal.3d 498, 510 ["The purpose of conduct credit is to foster good behavior and satisfactory work performance. [Citation.] That purpose will not be served by granting such credit retroactively."] (conc. & dis. opn. of Clark, J.) (Sage); People v. Saffell (1979) 25 Cal.3d 223, 233 ["The purposes of the provision for 'good time' credits seem self-evident. First, and primarily, prisoners are encouraged to conform to prison regulations and to refrain from engaging in criminal, particularly assaultive, acts while in custody. Second, [prisoners are induced] to make an effort to participate in what may be termed 'rehabilitative' activities"].)

In *People v. Doganiere* (1978) 86 Cal.App.3d 237 (*Doganiere*), Division Two of the Fourth District reasoned that the *Estrada* exception also applied to conduct credits because, "it must be presumed that the Legislature thought the prior system of not allowing credit for good behavior was too severe." (*People v. Doganiere*, *supra*, 86 Cal.App.3d at p. 240.) But this reasoning ignores the legislative intent behind conduct credits, as opposed to actual credits: i.e., encouraging good behavior. As

discussed below, the awarding of conduct credit was not a legislative determination that sentences were too severe, rather; it was a legislative determination that motivating and encouraging good behavior would help to maintain discipline and minimize threats to prison and jail security. The reasoning in *Doganiere* is unsound.

Less than a year after the holding in Doganiere, the First District decided In re Stinnette (1979) 94 Cal. App.3d 800, 804-805 (Stinnette). In 1977, when the Legislature enacted the Determinate Sentencing Law, it included provisions which allowed prisons to earn conduct credit in prison (§§ 2930 and 2931). By their express terms, the credits were to be awarded prospectively only. (In re Stinnette, supra, 94 Cal.App.3d at p. 804.) The Stinnette court considered whether or not the prospective application of the conduct credits statute would violate equal protection. (Id. at pp. 804-805.) The Stinnette court did not discuss the question of legislative intent directly because the legislative intent was made clear by its inclusion of an express provision indicating the statute applied prospectively only. However, the court's equal protection reasoning necessarily implies that the Legislature did not intend retroactive application because to do so would undermine the statute's intent to provide effective incentives for good behavior. Thus, the court noted, the public purpose behind such statutes, "is the desirable and legitimate purpose of motivating good conduct among prisoners so as to maintain discipline and minimize threats to prison security. Reason dictates that it is impossible to influence behavior after it has occurred." (In re Stinnette, supra, 94 Cal. App. 3d at p. 806.) Accordingly, the Stinnette court determined that applying good conduct credits prospectively was not a violation of appellant's equal protection rights. (Ibid.)

Here, in holding the amendment should be applied retroactively, the Third District determined that this issue was not distinguishable from *Estrada*, and agreed with the finding in *Doganiere*. But this conclusion does not follow: increasing conduct credits does not necessarily reduce punishment; the credits must still be earned. That is, the prisoner must prospectively perform the good acts that will ultimately shorten his or her sentence. A change in the accrual rate for conduct credit is not a legislative determination that punishments for certain crimes are too severe, otherwise the amendment would necessarily have to apply to all prisoners convicted of those offenses. Here, the amendments apply only to those prisoners convicted of certain offenses who have also earned their conduct credit while in custody.

Further, a favorable change in the rate at which an inmate accrues conduct credit is not a reduction in punishment. The sentences imposed for their criminal behavior remain unchanged and unaffected by the amendment to section 4019. The only change is in the rate at which inmates are rewarded for behaving appropriately and working while in custody. The increase in a reward for certain behavior is not the equivalent of a reduction in punishment. (See, e.g., *People v. Brunner* (1983) 145 Cal.App.3d 761, 764 [holding an amendment that expressly afforded credit to mentally disordered offenders for time spent in mental hospitals and repealing a statute precluding such credit (see §§ 1364 and 1365) was not a "statute lessening punishment."].)

Accordingly, the amendment to section 4019 does not constitute an "amendatory statute lessening punishment," and thus, *Estrada* is inapplicable.

B. Because Nothing in the Legislation Itself, or Its Surrounding Circumstances Compels the Conclusion That the Legislature Intended Retroactive Application, the Presumption of Prospective Application Has Not Been Rebutted

When determining whether an amendatory statute should be applied retroactively or prospectively, the first and most important determination with respect to this issue is the Legislative intent. (*People v. Floyd* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 179, 184.) As noted above, Penal Code section 3 creates a presumption of prospective application, but this presumption can be rebutted where there is a clear and compelling indication that the Legislature intended retroactive application. A new statute or an amendment to a statute, "is generally presumed to operate prospectively absent an express declaration of retroactivity or a clear and compelling implication that the Legislature intended otherwise. [Citation.]" (*People v. Alford* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 749, 753 (*Alford*), citing *People v. Hayes* (1989) 49 Cal.3d 1260, 1274.)

In Alford, this Court explained,

As its own language makes clear, section 3 is not intended to be a 'straitjacket.' 'Where the Legislature has not set forth in so many words what it intended, the rule of construction should not be followed blindly in complete disregard of factors that may give a clue to the legislative intent. It is to be applied only after, considering all pertinent factors, it is determined that it is impossible to ascertain the legislative intent.' (*In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740, 746....) Even without an express declaration, a statute may apply retroactively if there is "a clear and compelling implication" that the Legislature intended such a result. (*People v. Grant* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 150, 157..., quoting *People v. Hayes*, supra, 49 Cal.3d at p. 1274....)

(People v. Alford, supra, 42 Cal.4th at pp. 753-754.)

As noted above, "conduct credits are designed to ensure the smooth running of a custodial facility by encouraging prisoners to do required work and to obey the rules and regulations of the facility." (*People v. Silva* (2003) 114 Cal.App.4th 122, 128. In *People v. Brown, supra*, 33 Cal.4th at page 405, this Court recognized the same principle: "[S]ection 4019, focuses primarily on encouraging minimal cooperation and good behavior by persons temporarily detained in local custody."

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