IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

	Deputy
Defendant and Appellant) Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk
JAMES LEE BROWN III	NOV 1 0 2010
v.) (CRC) FILED (8.25(b))
Plaintiff and Respondent	SUPREME COURT FILED
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA) No. S181963

DEFENDANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal
Third Appellate District
No. C056510
Following Appeal from the Lassen County Superior Court
No. CR024002
The Honorable Stephen D. Bradbury, presiding.

Mark J. Shusted, Esq.
State Bar #117536
P.O. Box 2825
Granite Bay, CA 95746
916.804.5106
Attorney for James Lee Brown III
Appointed by the Court upon
Recommendation by CCAP

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

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

Summary of Argument

The principal issue presented for review is whether the 2009 amendment requires recalculation of conduct credits for individuals, such as defendant, who were sentenced prior to the statute's effective date.

The issue turns on legislative intent. The Court of Appeal in the capital concluded "the Legislature intended that the amendment to Penal Code section 4019 be applied retroactively applied, at least as to those eligible defendants whose convictions were not final on the effective date."

(Brown, supra, slip opn. at p. 35.) Respondent argues the Legislature

intended otherwise. The Court of Appeal's reasoning is more persuasive, and this court should affirm its judgment.

SB 18 did not include an explicit directive that amended section 4019 be applied retroactively. The inclusion of a retroactivity clause was unnecessary, however, since the Legislature's intent for retroactive application of the enhanced credits was otherwise manifested.

First, pursuant to previously-unquestioned precedents construing prior presentence conduct credit increases, the Legislature's omission of a prospectivity clause was a direct signal of its intent that amended section 4019 should apply to all cases to which it could apply, which would include, at a minimum, all cases not final on January 25, 2010.

Second, the 2009 amendment contains no language supporting respondent's theory that the enhanced credits do not commence to accrue until January 25, 2010.

Third, the 2009 amendment was intended to equalize presentence and postsentence conduct credit schemes and to respond to the fiscal emergency caused by the State's budget problems. Retroactive application of amended section 4019 is more responsive to these concerns than respondent's delayed accrual theory.

Fourth, section 59 of SB 18 further evinces the legislative intent for retroactivity. It imposes a duty on the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation (CDCR or Department) to implement within a reasonable time the credit changes of SB 18, which include the amendment to section 4019. Since CDCR routinely calculates and reviews credit determinations based on section 4019, section 59 conveys the Legislature's intent to apply the enhanced credits retroactively, in order to achieve an equalization of credits quickly and equitably, thereby expediting budget

savings and alleviating prison overcrowding. Section 59 resolves the equal protection issue that arises if amended section 4019 is applied prospectively. Section 59 also was intended to alleviate judicial administration concerns that would arise if the enhanced credits were limited to defendants whose judgments were not final on the statute's effective date.

Fifth, the 2010 amendment further equalizes the treatment of eligible prisoners, such as defendant, whose felony sentences are executed, by improving the conduct credit to custody ratio to one-for-one. The 2010 amendment reiterates the validity of section 59, and directs that the amendment be construed in accordance therewith. (SB 76, § 3, 2 RJN, Exh. A, p.4.) Besides confirming defendant's view of the 2009 amendment, the 2010 amendment provides a distinct basis for retroactive application of presentence conduct credits to defendant's case.

In sum, the court should hold defendant is entitled to the favorable credit changes set forth in the 2009 and 2010 amendments, and affirm the judgment of the Court of Appeal.

/

/

/

/

/

ARGUMENT⁷

I.

The Tools of Statutory Analysis Require Courts to Ascertain Legislative Intent First and to Resort to Section 3 Last

A. The Principles of Statutory Construction

Respondent asserts "an analysis of whether or not a statute or an amendment to a statute is to apply retroactively or prospectively begins with Penal Code section 3." (Respondent's Opening Brief (ROB) 5) Defendant disagrees.

Section 3 is not the "starting point" of analysis. It is the "ending point." "It is to be applied *only after*, considering all pertinent factors, it is determined that it is impossible to ascertain the legislative intent." (*In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740, 746 (*Estrada*), italics added; accord, *People v. Alford* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 749, 753 (*Alford*).)9

Should respondent's reply brief raise an objection to any argument herein on the ground that it was not raised in the Court of Appeal, defendant would respond that this court has allowed parties to advance new theories when the issue posed is purely a question of law based on undisputed facts, and involves important questions of public policy. (*In re Jenkins* __ Cal.4th __ (2010 WL 4238825), opn. filed Oct. 28, 2010, slip opn. at p. 8.)

Section 3 provides: "No part of [the Penal Code] is retroactive, unless expressly so declared."

Respondent cites *Alford, supra,* and *Evangelatos v. Superior Court* (1988) 44 Cal.3d 1188, 1208, for the proposition (per *Alford*) that a "new statute is generally presumed to operate prospectively absent an express declaration of retroactivity or a clear and compelling implication that the Legislature intended otherwise" (ROB 10) or (per *Evangelatos*) that section 3 "reflects the common understanding that legislative provisions are presumed to operate prospectively, and that they should be so interpreted (continued...)

The "pertinent factors" are settled: "To determine legislative intent, we turn first, to the words of the statute, giving them their usual and ordinary meaning. [Citation.] When the language of a statute is clear, we need go no further. However, when the language is susceptible of more than one reasonable interpretation, we look to a variety of extrinsic aids, including the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, contemporaneous administrative construction, and the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part. [Citations.]" (People v. Flores (2003) 30 Cal.4th 1059, 1063.)

Whether the Legislature intends a statute to operate retroactively is a question of law that this court decides independently. (*In re Chavez* (2004) 114 Cal.App.4th 989, 994.) In conducting that inquiry, this court recognizes that the Legislature "manifestly" may have different intents with

p. 747.)

⁹(...continued)

^{&#}x27;unless express language or clear and unavoidable implication negatives the presumption.'" (ROB 5)

Evangelatos considered Proposition 51, the initiative measure revising joint and several liability in tort actions, and is plainly inapposite to the issue of what presumption, if any, should apply in the case of an ameliorative amendment to a penal statute.

Alford does not require a clear an compelling implication of retroactivity in all situations where section 3 arguably applies, as respondent suggests. Alford considered whether retroactive application of a court security fee was an ex post facto law. (Id. at pp. 755-759.) In the case of an amendment mitigating punishment, as here, no ex post facto concern is at issue. (Sekt v. Justice's Court (1945) 26 Cal.2d 297, 305.) "Where the statute passed after the offense is committed but before final judgment mitigates rather than increases the punishment . . . the problem is not complicated by the prohibition against ex post facto laws, . . . [and] the cases quite uniformly hold that the offender may be punished under the new law," (Ibid; accord, Estrada, supra, 63 Cal.2d at

respect to specific amendments within a single bill. (*People v. Francis* (1969) 71 Cal.2d 66, 78.) The relevant intent is whether the Legislature intended the amendment at issue to apply retroactively. (*People v. Nasalga* (1996) 12 Cal.4th 784, 795-796 (*Nasalga*).)

As will be shown, it is unnecessary to utilize section 3. The provision does, however, play a role in understanding the Legislature's intent with respect to the 2009 amendment to section 4019. Therefore, a review of the judicial explication of the section is warranted.

B. The Estrada Rule and the Legislative Response

1. The Estrada Rule

In *Estrada, supra*, this court explained that "[w]hen the Legislature amends a statute so as to lessen the punishment it has obviously expressly determined that its former penalty was too severe and that a lighter punishment is proper as punishment for the commission of the prohibited act." (*Estrada, supra,* 63 Cal.2d at p. 745.)¹⁰

Since application of the amended statute raises no *ex post facto* concerns (the punishment being lighter), the defendant "can and should be punished under the new law," absent a "saving clause," which the court indicated was a legislative expression "that the old law should continue to

In 1996, respondent asked this court to reconsider *Estrada* in light of the subsequent passage of the Determinate Sentencing Law (DSL). This court did not consider the DSL's shift in penological theory sufficient to reconsider *Estrada* (*Nasalga*, *supra*, 12 Cal.4th at p. 792, fn. 7), whose principles by that time had repeatedly been relied upon by the Legislature and the courts. (*In re Pedro T.* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 1041, 1054-1055 (*Pedro T.*), dis. opn. Arabian J., cited as including "comprehensive list of cases that have applied *Estrada*," in *Nasalga*, *supra*, 12 Cal.4th at p. 793, fn. 8.)

operate as to past acts, " (*Estrada, supra*, 63 Cal.2d at p. 747.)¹¹ To effectuate legislative intent for retroactivity, *Estrada* held "the amendatory statute should operate in all cases not reduced to final judgment at the time of its passage." (*Ibid.*)

2. Subsequent Judicial Clarification of Estrada

In *Nasalga*, the court reaffirmed that "*Estrada* stands for the proposition that, 'where the amendatory statute mitigates punishment and there is no saving clause, the rule is that the amendment will operate retroactively so that the lighter punishment is imposed.' [Citation.]" (*Nasalga, supra,* 12 Cal.4th at p. 792.) The court added: "The rule in *Estrada,* of course, is not implicated where the Legislature clearly signals its intent to make the amendment prospective, by the inclusion of either an express saving clause or its equivalent. In *Pedro T., supra,* we determined the absence of an express saving clause, emphasized in *Estrada*..., does not end 'our quest for legislative intent.' 'Rather, what is required is that the Legislature demonstrate its intention with sufficient clarity that a reviewing court can discern and effectuate it.' [Citation.]" (*Id.,* at p. 793.)

Estrada added that "if the saving clause expressly provided that the old law should continue to operate as to past acts, so far as punishment is concerned that would be the end of the matter." (63 Cal.2d at p. 747.) Technically, this statement is not wholly accurate. In In re Kapperman (1974) 11 Cal.3d 542, 544-545 (Kapperman), this court held a prospective restriction on presentence custody credits based on the defendant's delivery date to the custody of prison officials violated the federal and state equal protections clauses. As will be shown, however, the statement communicated to the Legislature its authority to make amelioratory amendments prospective, and the Legislature has exercised its authority on numerous occasions. (Pedro T., supra, 8 Cal.4th at p. 1054, fn. 4, dis. opn. Arabian, J. [cases collected].)

C. The Legislature Has Consistently Used Unmistakable Language to Express Its Intent When that Intent Was to Make a Beneficial Credit Change Prospective

Although *Nasalga* clarifies that the absence of an explicit saving clause – that is, a provision stating "the old law should continue to operate as to past acts" (*Estrada*, *supra*, 63 Cal.2d at p. 747) – is not necessarily determinative, in the 45 years since *Estrada* was decided, the Legislature has consistently included unmistakable language when it desired to limit beneficial credit changes to future events.

These instances include:

- (1) the 1971 enactment of section 2900.5, which limited the availability of its new presentence custody credits to prisoners delivered to the CDCR's predecessor on or after March 4, 1972;¹²
- (2) the 1976 enactment of the DSL, which adopted a new good behavior and participation conduct credit scheme, but limited the credits to conduct occurring on or after July 1, 1977;¹³

The Legislature, acting in accordance with the then-recent *Estrada* decision, included an explicit prospectivity clause ("the delivery clause"), which stated: "This section shall be applicable as to those prisoners who are delivered into the custody of the Director of Corrections on or after the effective date of this section (i.e., March 4, 1972.)" (*Kapperman, supra,* 11 Cal.3d at p. 544, fn. 1.)

The DSL added section 1170.2, subdivision (d), which provided: "In the case of any prisoner who committed a felony prior to July 1, 1977, who would have been sentenced under Section 1170 if the felony was committed on or after July 1, 1977, the good behavior and participation provisions of Article 2.5 (commencing with Section 2930) of Chapter 7 of Title 1 of Part 3 shall apply from July 1, 1977, and thereafter." (*In re Stinnette* (1979) 94 (continued...)

- (3) the 1981 enactment of the successor to the Mentally Disordered Sex Offender (MDSO) law, which established a new conduct credit scheme that was explicitly inapplicable to any person committed under the MDSO prior to January 1, 1982;¹⁴
- and (4) the 1982 enactment of the worktime credit system, which was inapplicable to work performed prior to January 1, 1983.¹⁵

- Section 3 of the repealing statute stated: "Nothing in this act shall be construed to affect any person under commitment [as an MDSO]... prior to the effective date of this act." (*Baker v. Superior Court* (1984) 35 Cal.3d 663, 666, italics deleted.) With respect to this provision, this court wrote: "Nothing could be clearer than the first sentence of section 3 as to the Legislature's intention to exclude from the repeal of the MDSO laws those persons who had been committed prior to the effective date of the new law." (*Id.*, at p. 667, fn. omitted.)
- 15 The 1982 legislation specified that the prison good behavior and participation credit system adopted as part of the DSL in 1976 "shall not apply to any person whose crime was committed on or after January 1, 1983." (§ 2931, subd. (d).) Section 2934 permitted a prisoner subject to the DSL "good behavior and participation" credit scheme to waive the right to receive time credits as provided in section 2931 and be subject to the worktime credit provisions of section 2933. The waiver would be made "[u]nder rules prescribed by the Director of Corrections," and the a prisoner exercising the waiver would "retain only that portion of good behavior and participation credits, ..., attributable to the portion of the sentence served by the prisoner prior to the effective date of the waiver." (§ 2934, Stats. 1982, ch. 1234, § 5, p. 4552.) The rules were adopted effective January 1, 1983. (In re Bender (1983) 149 Cal. App. 3d 380, 384.) Consequently, "it is apparent that credits can be earned under section 2933 after January 1, 1983 only; persons delivered to the Department before January 1, 1983 may continue to accrue credits under section 2931 or they may opt to become eligible for section 2933 credits effective January 1, (continued...)

¹³(...continued) Cal.App.3d 800, 805, fn. 3 (*Stinnette*).)

With the exception of the 1971 amendment to section 2900.5, which was invalidated on equal protection grounds in *Kapperman, supra*, 11 Cal.3d at pp. 544-545, courts have upheld these prospectivity provisions on the uniform ground that the new or revised behavioral standards justified limitation of the credits to future conduct. (*Stinnette*, supra, 94 Cal.App.3d at p. 803 [DSL conduct credits]; *People v. Brunner* (1983) 145 Cal.App.3d 761, 764 (*Brunner*) [post-MDSO conduct credits]; *In re Strick* (1983) 148 Cal.App.3d 906, 913 (*Strick*) [worktime credits].)

D. Respondent's Reliance on *Stinnette*, *Brunner* and *Strick* Is Misplaced

Before turning to the cases discussing legislative intent where, as here, an amendment increasing credits *omits* a prospectivity or saving clause, it is worth discussing respondent's reliance on *Stinnette* (ROB 8, 11), *Brunner* (ROB 9) and *Strick* (ROB 22) to support its theory that the Legislature did not intend the new credit formula to apply to conduct occurring prior to January 25, 2010. As the preceding section shows, the three cases considered statutes that (1) modified the behavioral standards for obtaining the credits and (2) included explicit language directing prospective application. In each case, the court found the new behavioral standard supported the Legislature's decision to limit the the credits to future conduct. Unlike the amendments at issue in *Stinnette*, *Brunner*, and *Strick*, the 2009 amendment to section 4019 (1) makes no change to the standards of behavior needed to obtain the enhanced credits and (2)

¹⁵(...continued) 1983. (§ 2934.)" (*Id.*, at p. 384, fn. 6.)

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